FILED
COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II
2016 SEP -9 AM 9:40
STATE OF WASHINGTON
BY DM
DEPUTY

SC # 93580.7

FILED
SEP 13 2016
WASHINGTON STATE
SUPREME COURT

Court of Appeals State of Washington Division II – No.: 47149-3-II

Kitsap County Superior Court No. 12-2-01544-1

CITY OF PORT ORCHARD,

Petitioner/Defendant,

vs.

PAMELA O'NEILL,

Respondent/Plaintiff.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Patrick McMahon – WSBA #18809
David L. Force – WSBA #29997
Carlson McMahon & Sealby, PLLC
Of Attorneys for Petitioner
37 S. Wenatchee Ave., Ste. F, PO Box 2965
Wenatchee, WA 98807-2965
(509) 662-6131/Facsimile: (509) 663-0679
patm@carlson-mcmahon.org
davidf@carlson-mcmahon.org

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner, the City of Port Orchard (hereinafter “the City”), the Plaintiff below, seeks review of the Court of Appeals’ decision to reverse and remand the Superior Court’s summary judgement order.

II. COURT OF APPEALS’ DECISION

The Court of Appeals’ decision was filed on June 28, 2016, reversing the Trial Court’s dismissal of the Plaintiff’s case. The Court of Appeals’ decision is attached here to as Appendix 1.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The Court of Appeals’ reversal of the Superior Court’s summary judgement order was in error, which involved a significant question of law under Washington Law and the Court of Appeals’ decision conflicts with Washington case authority:

- 1) The Court of Appeals erred by considering the testimony of Mr. Couch’s speculative and inadmissible testimony;
- 2) The Court of Appeals expanded the duty to maintain streets which is applicable to all cities, counties and the state, contrary to legislative intent; and
- 3) The Court of Appeals erred by failing to require the Plaintiff to identify a factual basis of her claim by identifying the specific defect which caused her fall or that a defect in the road caused her fall at all, as required by CR 56.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Statement of Facts

The factual background of this matter is generally well stated within the Court of Appeals’ opinion. Appendix 1. On July 18, 2009, the Plaintiff was injured when she lost control of her bicycle while riding northbound on Sidney Avenue in Port Orchard, Washington, as she headed home from work. (CP 34). Initially, O’Neill reported that she fell while going down a hill and hitting loose gravel. (CP 30). However, in her

deposition testimony, she alleged that she was thrown from her bicycle because her front tire suddenly changed directions because of the uneven surface of the roadway. (CP 35). Moments before the fall, there were six to twelve vehicles in her vicinity, and the far right of the lane had vehicles legally parked next to the curb. Id. Respondent was traveling down Sidney Avenue between those parked cars on her right and the other motor vehicles sharing the roadway to her left. Id. In particular, there was a pickup truck to her left that was in the process of overtaking her when she fell. Id.

Respondent is a skilled cyclist. (CP 36). She is familiar with the roads around Port Orchard as she rides her bike daily and sometimes multiple times per day. Id. On the day of the incident, it was the first time she had ridden her bike through the intersection where the fall occurred. (CP 37). Plaintiff had no prior knowledge of the street conditions of the intersection or any knowledge of whether this particular intersection had any reputation for an uneven street surface prior to her fall. (CP 38). In her deposition, Respondent was not clearly able to articulate what exact defect caused her fall:

Q: Now can you describe what you remember happening specifically to your bicycle?

A: It, the front tire, changed directions, and I was projected over the handle bars. (CP 93, Deposition of Pamela O'Neill, pg. 19-20.)

Next, when looking at Exhibit 4 of the Respondent's Deposition, Respondent states:

Q: Please identify where you believe the point in the road where your tire changed direction causing you supposedly fall?

A: (witness complies)

Q: The record reflects she marked an X on Exhibit 4. Is it fair to say that point caused you to fall?

A: No.

Q: What caused you to fall?

A: The condition of the change of the road leading up to that area.
(CP 94, Deposition of Pamela O'Neill, pg. 23.)

Respondent appears unable to clearly identify a defect in the roadway and where such defect was located. Respondent again struggles with such identification later in the transcript, but does come to a belief it was now a single location:

Q: So it wasn't this particular spot marked by an X on Exhibit 4 that caused you to fall, it was the rough road condition?

A: At that intersection, the road conditions are damaged. The road prior to that intersection is smooth. At that intersection, it is uneven, lots of variation in the condition of the road.

Q: But it wasn't on specific point?

A: It was.

(CP 94, Deposition of Pamela O'Neill, pg. 24.)

While at first being unable to identify what caused her to fall in her deposition, Respondent changed her opinion and could identify a particular location. Nonetheless, Respondent again becomes indecisive in identifying what caused her to fall:

Q: I'm not trying to mischaracterize your testimony; I'm simply trying to understand. It was not one particular spot in the road that caused you to fall, it was the change that resulted from patch work that had been done on the intersection?

A: The conditions went from bad to worse going down towards downhill.

Q: Okay. So what was it particularly about the conditions that made them bad?

A: Uneven, loose gravel, wider space.

Q: Is it fair to say, though, that you cannot identify one specific defect in the road that caused you to fall?

A: I can say that there is the spot where my tire changed direction, causing me to fall on my bike.

(CP 95, Deposition of Pamela O'Neill, pg. 26-27.)

There is more evidence further in Respondent's deposition that shows Plaintiff is unable to identify what the alleged defect was in the roadway that caused her bike to suddenly turn. As an example, further in the deposition:

Q: You said your tire changed directions. How did this uneven condition cause your tire to change directions?

A: I don't know.

(CP 37, 95, Deposition of Pamela O'Neill, pg. 28-29.)

Finally, Respondent even admits at the time of the accident, she did not know what caused the fall. It was only after she returned to the scene of the accident, that she herself could perhaps speculate about what may have caused her bike to suddenly change directions:

Q: At the time you talked to the doctors, when they asked what you fell on, had you been back to the scene to see why you fell?

A: No.

Q: When did you go back to the scene to see why you fell?

A: A couple of weeks, a month; a couple of weeks.

Q: And why did you go back?

A: I had wanted to see why I fell.

(CP 101, Deposition of Pamela O'Neill, pg. 64-65.)

B. Statement of Procedure

Plaintiff filed her Complaint in the Superior Court of the State of Washington County of Kitsap on July 16, 2012. (CP 1-7). Defendant moved for summary judgment dismissal of Plaintiff's claims. (CP 13-14). On December 1, 2014, the Honorable Judge Jay B. Roof issued a Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order on Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment. (CP 141-147). Judge Roof found that Plaintiff's expert witness, James Couch, provided no evidence he was "qualified to provide competent expert testimony regarding bicycle reconstruction, road design, or road signage requirements and how the human body reacts to such visual signage." (CP 144). Accordingly, Judge Roof excluded Mr. Couch's declaration and expert testimony. *Id.*

Judge Roof further found that without Mr. Couch's testimony, Plaintiff "failed to rebut the City of Port Orchard's initial showing of the absence of a genuine dispute to any materials of fact." *Id.* Judge Roof stated that Defendant's duty of ordinary care to all persons to build and maintain its roadways in a condition that is reasonably safe for

ordinary travel is conditional on the City having notice, and the opportunity to correct, any hazard that may present itself in the roadway. Id. Because the City had never received a complaint from a bicyclist regarding the conditions of its roadways, the City had no notice of any alleged hazards, and therefore, the City's duty of ordinary care was never invoked. Id.

The Plaintiff filed a Motion for Reconsideration, which was denied on December 18, 2014. See (CP 148, 161). The Plaintiff then filed a Notice of Appeal to the Court of Appeals on January 20, 2015. (CP 162). In a published opinion, the Appellate Court held that:

...the superior court erred by (1) excluding most of the bicycle expert's testimony under ER 702, (2) granting summary judgment regarding the City's duty, because there are genuine issues of material fact as to whether the City had constructive notice of the roadway defect, and (3) finding that implied primary assumption of risk barred O'Neill from any recovery."

Appendix 1.

The Court then reversed and remanded the case to the superior court. The City then filed a Motion for Reconsideration, which was denied on August 10, 2016. Appendix 2. The City/Petitioner now submits this Petition for Review to the Supreme Court.

V. ARGUMENT AS TO WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This Court should review the Court of Appeals' decision because: (1) it erroneously permitted inadmissible expert testimony; (2) it included bicycles as a mode of "ordinary travel," which usurps legislative duty and contradicts legislative intent; and (3) the Respondent, Pamela O'Neil, could not establish causation.

A. The Appellate Court erred in declaring Couch’s visual observations of the road and his opinions regarding a cyclist’s ability to see a defect and the effect of road conditions as admissible testimony.

The trial court properly excluded the purported expert testimony and opinions of James Couch. The court found that Mr. Couch did not provide any evidence that he was qualified to provide competent expert testimony regarding bicycle accident reconstruction, road design, or road signage requirements and how the human body reacts to such visual signage. (CP 114). Contrary to the Appellate Court’s decision, the trial court did not err in excluding Mr. Couch’s testimony contained in his declaration in opposition to Defendant’s summary judgment motion.

i. Plaintiff’s Expert’s Declaration is Speculation and Lacks Adequate Foundation

The Plaintiff submitted the “Declaration of James Couch” as expert witness testimony. Washington Rules of Evidence define an expert witness as “a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.” ER 702. Washington courts ask two questions when applying this rule: “(1) does the witness qualify as an expert, and (2) would the witness’s testimony be helpful to the trier of fact.” State v. McPherson, 111 Wn.App. 747, 761 (2002). “Where there is no basis for the expert opinion other than theoretical speculation, the expert testimony should be excluded.” Queen City Farms, Inc. v. Cent. Nat. Ins. Co. of Omaha, 126 Wn.2d 50, 103 (1994). As the Court of Appeals has stated, “[i]t is well established that conclusory or speculative expert opinions lacking an adequate foundation will not be admitted.” Miller v. Likins, 109 Wn.App. 140, 148 (2012).

In Miller, an expert's opinion about where the actual accident occurred was properly stricken from the record. See 109 Wn.App. at 149. The Miller court found that his opinion was speculative and lacked an adequate factual basis because the expert did not "perform a quantitative analysis to support his version of the facts of the accident." Id. The expert "testified that he had no way of determining where the point of impact in this accident occurred." Id.

Here, Mr. Couch made the factual conclusion that Plaintiff's bicycle engaged the defect between two concrete slabs that ran parallel to Plaintiff's direction of travel. (CP 124D). Upon this happening, the Declaration continues that O'Neill's bike was turned to the side and she fell. Id. This opinion is in conflict with testimony provided by O'Neill in her deposition. (CP 94). Respondent believes it was the changes in the road condition that caused her fall. Id. She never states in her deposition that her tire became caught in a void, gap, or separation between any concrete slabs. Further, Respondent cannot provide a clear identification of what defect actually caused her to fall. Mr. Couch's inferences in his report on what caused O'Neill to fall are not supported by any factual statement she made. Also, similar to Miller, Mr. Couch performed no quantitative analysis as to what may have caused O'Neill's fall nor does Mr. Couch have the training or expertise to perform such quantitative analyses.

Additionally, Mr. Couch made factual statements that are not supported by any evidence in the record. Mr. Couch states that "the slabs in question are separated from each other by a distance that varies, from 2 to 6 inches, and one as wide as 11 inches." See (CP 124C). Mr. Couch provides no supplemental exhibits to support such statement. In contrast, photographs in O'Neill's declarations only show, at best, differences in the

elevation of the slabs in the amount of one inch, and separation in the amount of approximately two, possibly three inches. See (CP 122-124). Ultimately, the distance between the concrete slabs appears to be overstated and not quantitatively determined with an accurate measuring tool.

Mr. Couch's factual statements and his conclusion gleaned from them are purely speculative in nature and should be stricken by this Court. The Court of Appeals' erred and this Court should reinstate the Trial Court's decision excluding this speculative testimony.

ii. *Plaintiff's Expert is Not Qualified to Testify as an Expert Regarding Road Design or Human Facts*

In order to be an expert witness, the expert must be qualified to offer the opinion. See Acord v. Pettit, 174 Wn.App. 95, 111, 302 P.3d 1265 (2013). "An expert may not testify about information outside his area of expertise." Katare v. Katare, 175 Wn.2d 23, 38, 283 P.3d 546 (2012).

Here, Respondent's expert Mr. Couch offered conclusory statements that are outside the purview of a bicycle expert witness. The first is Mr. Couch's statements regarding road design. Mr. Couch stated that "there is no signage warning cyclists that there are significant risks along this route." (CP 125D). Mr. Couch also stated that "in my entire career as a bicycle expert, I have seen only a few hazards as pernicious as the pavement defect located near the intersection of Sidney Avenue and Kitsap Boulevard in Port Orchard, WA." Besides the fact that his statement regarding the absence of roadway signs is factually inaccurate, Mr. Couch's statement could only be made by a road design expert. See (CP 40.) Mr. Couch has no training in roadway design, construction, or maintenance, or training on required road signage, or how a person might perceive the

road signage. Further, the Plaintiff's purported expert has no experience or training in utilizing road sign manuals such as MUTCD. He is not qualified to make such statements as they are outside his area of expertise. Any statement regarding his opinion of City of Port Orchard's roadways, conditions of the roadways, and signage of the roadways should have been stricken by the Court of Appeals and was properly stricken by the Trial Court.

Secondly, Mr. Couch made statements regarding human factors and what defects a person may be able, or unable, to see and the difficulties of seeing such defects. Mr. Couch states, "moreover, the defect is difficult for a cyclist to see." Defects that run nearly parallel to the direction of travel as opposed to those that run perpendicular to the direction of travel such as pot holes, for example, are very difficult for a cyclist to see while they are cycling." See (CP 124C-D). Mr. Couch has no expertise on what a person can and/or cannot see and how the direction of a defect might affect a person's visual sensory abilities. He has no training or experience as a human factors expert. Again, he is also speculating on what O'Neill may or may not have seen as she rode her bicycle.

Finally, Mr. Couch provided no quantitative analysis to show what O'Neill saw. These statements regarding how orientation of a defect affects a person's visual sensory ability are best left for a human factors expert and are outside Mr. Couch's area of expertise.

For the above reasons, while Mr. Couch may be an expert in bicycle retail shop ownership, his statements are clearly outside his area of expertise and the trial court did not err in striking his entire declaration from the record.

iii. *Respondent Failed to Show that James Couch is Qualified as an Expert*

Respondent went to great lengths in her briefing to attempt to show James Couch's seventeen years in the bicycle industry qualifies him to provide the testimony in his declaration. The City has no reason to dispute that he has training in selling and fitting bicycles, coaching bicyclists, and providing support to organized rides. However, none of this training qualifies him to offer opinions on road maintenance and design, human factors, or bicycle accident reconstruction.

Further, Mr. Couch does not provide the nature of his testimony in his given list of previous retainage as an expert. The fact that Mr. Couch personally observed the site of the incident would not provide a finder of fact any additional information that could not be observed by any layperson. The facts remain that Mr. Couch has no engineering training whatsoever, nor does his report use any of his measurements to show how the accident might have occurred with mathematical probability or mechanisms. Mr. Couch is not qualified to provide the opinions found in his report.

In sum, Respondent expert, James Couch, is not qualified to provide the testimony in his declaration because he has no expertise in the areas of his opinions. O'Neill does not provide any legal authority to demonstrate why Mr. Couch may be qualified to offer such opinions. Because of these facts, the trial court did not err in finding that he was not "qualified to provide competent expert testimony regarding bicycle reconstruction, road design, or road signage requirements and how the human body reacts to such visual signage." (CP 144).

B. The Appellate Court erred when it included bicycles as a mode of "ordinary travel," thus expanding the City's duty to maintain its roadways.

Generally, a city has a duty to exercise ordinary care in its construction, repair, and maintenance of its public roads to keep them in a reasonably safe condition for ordinary travel. Keller v. City of Spokane, 146 Wn.2d 237, 254 (2002). However, this duty is not one of strict liability. Governmental entities are held to the same negligence standard as private individuals. Owen v. Burlington N. & Santa Fe R.R. Co., 153 Wn.2d 780, 787 (2005). The duty of care owed by a municipality does not require streets to be maintained “in ideal traveling condition, nor to guard the traveling public from such normal hazards as small depressions in the surface of the roadway or ordinary puddles of water in the street.” Owens v. City of Seattle, 49 Wn. 2d 187, 191, 299 P.2d 560, 562 (1956). It follows:

Municipalities are responsible for maintaining thousands of miles of public highways and roads which have great social utility and are absolutely indispensable to the best interests of the public at large. It is impossible for these roads and highways to be maintained in perfect condition, and the fact that there are potholes and defects in roadways are matters widely known to the public.

McKee v. City of Edmonds, 54 Wn. App. 265, 268, 773 P.2d 434, 436 (1989).

Additionally, the duty to maintain streets in a condition that is reasonably safe for ordinary travel is conditional. Leroy v. State, 124 Wn.App. 65, 98 P.3d 819 (2004). The duty arises only when the municipality has notice, and time to correct the hazard. Id. In short, a municipality ““must have (a) notice of a dangerous condition which it did not create, and (b) a reasonable opportunity to correct it before liability arises for negligence from neglect of duty to keep the streets safe.”” Nguyen v. City of Seattle, 179 Wn. App. 155, 164-65 (2014) (quoting Laguna v. Wash. State Dep't of Transp., 146 Wn. App. 260, 263 (2008)).

Bicyclists are granted the rights to use and are subject to all duties that drivers of vehicles must abide by:

Every person riding a bicycle upon a roadway shall be granted all of the rights and shall be subject to all of the duties applicable to the driver of a vehicle by this chapter

RCW 46.61.755.

However, this statute refers to the traffic laws of the state and the responsibilities that drivers must follow when using the roadways. Bicyclists must use the roadway and follow the traffic laws as any other vehicle using the roadway would be required to follow. See RCW 46.61.755. This statute should not be interpreted to create an additional duty for municipalities to maintain roadways in a reasonably safe condition specifically *for a bicyclist*. A municipality's duty should extend only to the rule advanced in Keller: a city has a duty to exercise ordinary care in its construction, repair, and maintenance of its public roads to keep them in a reasonably safe condition for ordinary travel. See Keller, 146 Wn.2d at 254.

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