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

Plaintiff landed on her head and right shoulder, and injuring her 

elbow, back, hands and knees. O'Neill deposition, p. 33, lines 10-24, CP 96. 

Fortunately she was wearing a bicycle helmet, and suffered no head injury or 

loss of consciousness. Plaintiff declaration, p. 33, lines 13-20, CP 96. She 
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knew right away that her bones broke, as she could hear them cracking and 

had immediate pain. Plaintiff declaration, p. 34, lines 3-9, CP 96, CP 30. 

The assessment of paramedics was possible right shoulder dislocation, elbow, 

rib and clavicle fracture. CP 30. She was in the hospital for seven days with 

a fractured clavicle and punctured lung. O'Neill deposition, p. 39llines 17-

24, CP 97, p. 40, line 1, CP 97. 

James Couch was retained to look at the circumstances and supply an 

expert opinion as to the cause of this crash. But for a short hiatus in 1979, 

Couch has spent his career the bicycle industry since 1975. He was trained 

in manufacturing and fitting bicycles by the top companies, and is employed 

by REI as a Technical Specialist II, the highest level cycle and ski shop 

technician certification. He has been trained and certified as a United States 

Cycling Federation Category 3 cycling coach. He has owned his own bicycle 

shop, Spoke & Sprocket, for 17 years in Tacoma, Washington. His shop 

provided mechanical support to the areas top organized rides, including the 

Seattle to Portland Classic (STP), Peninsula Metric, Daffodil Metric, and 

Rhapsody events. His shop sponsored recreational and racing bicycle clubs. 

He has organized and run bicycle races, and has provided assistance in both 

racing and recreational route and course development. Declaration of James 

Couch, CP 124A-C. 

While a member of the University Place Economic Development 

Committee, he was often asked to give advice about cycling facilities. He is 

currently on the Multnomah County Bicycle and Pedestrian Citizen Advisory 
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Committee which advises Multnomah County regarding bicycle and 

pedestrian facilities. CP 124B. 

Mr. Couch has served as a bicycle accident expert for 17 years, 

identifying eight specific court cases in which he was retained, and 

referencing being a consultant in a number of other cases which did not make 

it to formal litigation. He has never been found unqualified to serve as an 

expert witness. CP 124B-C 

Mr. Couch met with Pamela O'Neill at the scene of the crash, 

discussed the accident with her, read her deposition, and personally inspected 

the site. Couch declaration, ~~ 6-8, CP 124C. He has reviewed all of the 

photographs, the deposition of the City Engineer, Mr. Dorsey, and the 

accident report. Couch declaration,~~ 9-11, CP 124C. He saw that there are 

pavement defects of concrete slabs that have separated in the area that her 

front tire of her bicycle hit. Couch declaration,~ 12, CP 124C. He saw that 

the height difference between the slabs exceed one inch, which alone is 

enough to cause the most experienced bike rider to lose control of their 

bicycle. Couch declaration,~ 13, CP 124C. Otto declaration, Exhibit 4, CP 

124. He saw that the slabs in question are separated from each other by a 

distance that varies, from two to six inches, with one as wide as eleven 

inches. Couch declaration,~ 14, CP 124C. Otto declaration, Exhibit 4, CP 

122-124. He saw that the surface area within (between) the slabs is very 

rough and formed by a variety of substances, including dirt, gravel, and road 

patch material. Couch declaration, ~ IS, CP 124C. He saw that the primary 
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defect runs nearly parallel to the direction of travel, and is long, running the 

length of the slab. Couch declaration, ~ 16, CP 124C. He saw that the 

roadway defects at Sidney Avenue and Kitsap Street are in the area where 

skilled and experienced bicyclists are most likely to ride, far enough from 

parked cars to be safe for travel. Couch declaration, ~~ 21, 22, CP 124D. He 

knows that the defects which run parallel to the direction of travel are 

difficult for a cyclist to see while cycling. Couch declaration,~ 17, CP 124C

D. He knows that roadway defects which run the direction of bicycle travel 

need not be very large to cause a bicycle accident. Couch declaration, ~ 18, 

CP 124D. 

Mr. Couch expressed an opinion that, this particular defect creates a 

significant hazard to cyclists, given its size and length. Couch declaration, 

~ 19, CP 124D, as, once a bicyclist's wheel engaged the defect, even the most 

experienced cyclist would have trouble maintaining control of the bicycle. 

Couch declaration, ~ 20, CP 124D. Mr. Couch found O'Neill to be a 

cautious, skilled, safe cyclist. Couch declaration, ~ 29, CP 124D. He 

expressed the opinion that O'Neill's tire engaged the road defect, which 

steered her bike, caused a loss of control, turned her bike, and caused her 

body to fly over the handlebars. Couch declaration, ~ 19, CP 124D. Mr. 

Couch expressed the opinion that, in his entire career, he has seen only a few 

hazards as pernicious as the pavement defect here at issue. Couch 

declaration,~ 30, CP 124D. 
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B. Statement ofProcedure 

A Summons and Complaint for damages was filed on July 16, 2012. 

CP 1-7. 

An Answer was filed July 27,2012. CP 8-12. 

The trial court entered Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and an 

Order Granting Summary Judgment, dismissing the action on December 1, 

2014. CP 141-147. 

A Notice of Appeal was timely filed. CP 162. 

Division II of the Court of Appeals heard the matter and issued its 

published opinion on June 28, 2016, establishing that bicycles are "ordinary 

travel" for negligence purposes to require safe roadways under Keller v. City 

of Spokane, 146 Wn.2d 237, 44 P.3d 845 (2002), and reversing the trial 

court's dismissal. 

The City sought reconsideration, which was denied on August 10, 

2016. 

The City timely filed a Petition for Discretionary Review on 

September 9, 2019. 

V. ARGUMENT & AUTHORITIES 

A. Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review 

In Washington's two tiered appellate system, not every case is 

appropriate for review by the Washington State Supreme Court. As the 

parties have already had benefit of a complete appellate review, only certain 

issues may be appealed further, under discretionary review. RAP 13.4(b), as 
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amended effective September I, 2016, enumerates principles which govern 

acceptance of review by the Supreme Court, none of which were addressed 

by the Petition for Review: 

(I) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a 
decision of the Supreme Court; or 

(2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a 
published decision of the Court of Appeals; or 

(3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the 
State of Washington or ofthe United States is involved; or 

(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest 
that should be determined by the Supreme Court. 

B. Application of the Governing Considerations 

1. Whether the decision below usurped the legislative authority. 

Only one of the issues raised by the City here arguably meets these 

governing principles: whether the Court of Appeals has imposed a fiscal 

responsibility on the City, exceeding its authority, usurping the legislature's 

fiscal role by determining the duty owed under negligence standards to 

bicyclists. This argument might arguably trigger consideration under RAP 

13.4(b)(3&4). 

The City's position is that Division II usurped the legislature's role in 

establishing regulations for bicycling. Petition, page 12. In the City's view, 

special lanes should be provided to bicyclists under a comprehensive 

transportation policy, and only then would the city have an obligation to 

make those lanes, and only those lanes, safe for bicyclists. Petition for 

Review, page 13. Under this vision for our communities, bicyclists going 

outside those special lanes would have no protection from dangerous 
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conditions and hazards known to the City, which is expressly contrary to the 

statute quoted below. 

The City complains that as bicycles use no gasoline, and pay no gas 

tax, or other fmancial support from bicyclists, Petition for Review, page 14, 

they do not financially support construction and maintenance of roads. This 

argument is of no relevance in a negligence claim, but the City argues this 

triggers a fiscal note, which is only in the province of the legislature, Petition 

for Review, page 14. The City claims that the court's ruling will require 

reconstruction of millions of miles of roadways, which should be a legislative 

determination, and which the State would have to fund. Petition for Review, 

page 16. 

The City's arguments fail as they ignore the fact that the legislature 

has already made a determination that bicycles are part of ordinary travel in 

RCW 46.61.755, which states in pertinent part: 

(1) Every person riding a bicycle upon a roadway shall be 
granted all of the rights and shall be subject to all of the duties 
applicable to the driver of a vehicle by this chapter .... 

This statute was passed in its initial form in 1965, and was amended 

in 2000, clarifying that bicycles on sidewalks have the rights and 

responsibilities of pedestrians. No changes were made to the rights of 

bicycles to use roadways at that time. 

As bicycles are given rights to use the roadways and duties to follow 

traffic rules, bicycle traffic is a regular part of ordinary travel for 

considerations of negligence and municipal liability. Bicycles are a 
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predictable and routine part of traffic to be expected on the roadways. 

Bicyclists are expressly given the rights applicable to the driver of a vehicle. 

A primary right of vehicular traffic is the right to have safe roads. Keller v. 

City of Spokane, 146 Wn.2d 237, 44 P.3d 845 (2002). Note that the Keller 

case itself involved a crash by a motorcycle, not an automobile. 

The legislature chose the language in RCW 46. 61.755 purposefully, 

and is presumed to be aware of its own enactments. ATU Legislative Council 

ofWashington State v. State, 145 Wn.2d 544, 552,40 P.3d 656,660 (2002). 

Further, the Legislature is presumed to be familiar with judicial 

interpretations of statutes, and absent an indication it intended to overrule a 

particular interpretation, amendments are presumed to be consistent with 

previous judicial decisions. Pudmaroffv. Allen, 138 Wn.2d 55, 64-6~, 977 

P .2d 574, 579 (1999). Washington law has long held governmental entities 

responsible for unsafe roads. 

But the duty to keep streets in repair is a municipal or 
ministerial duty, for a breach of which an action will lie in 
favor of a party injured thereby. City of Denver v. Dunsmore, 
7 Colo. 328, 3 Pac. 705. In the second place, we think that 
where, as here, a city has exclusive control and management 
of its streets, with power to raise money for their construction 
and repair, a duty (when not expressly imposed by charter) 
arises to the public, from the character of the powers granted, 
to keep its streets in a reasonably safe condition for use in the 
ordinary modes of travel, and that it is liable to respond in 
damages to those injured by a neglect to perform such duty. 
[emphasis added]. 

Sutton v. City ofSnohomish, 11 Wash. 24, 28, 39 P. 273,275 (1895). Note 

that Sutton, supra, involved injuries to a pedestrian, who also paid no gas 

taxes. 
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The City further submits that millions of miles of roadways will need 

to be reconstructed to meet the needs of bicyclists, at enormous financial 

impact, which is a legislative, not a judicial decision. Petition for Review, 

page 16. The City's hyperbole is unfounded. All that is needed is routine 

inspection of roads and modification of the rare traps and ledges which will 

re-direct bicycle tires, or warning signs to advise of the hazard. Please recall 

that there had been earlier repairs at the site of this injury, where simple 

asphalt patches were applied to eliminate the height differential and fill the 

gaps between the concrete slabs, but the patches had not been maintained for 

between ten to thirty years. Dorsey deposition, p. 67line 20 top. 68 line 2. 

CP 111. Presumably, asphalt patches are not a budget buster. 

As an example of the rarity of two wheeled vehicle hazards, there are 

signs routinely placed at re-paving sites stating "motorcycles use extreme 

caution" to warn of the ledges in pavement, parallel to the direction of travel, 

when one lane of new pavement has been put down and the other has not, or 

at railroad crossings. Making safe such rare hazards will not have the same 

fiscal note as reconstructing millions of miles of highways. Please see 

McCluskey v. Handorff-Sherman, 125 Wash.2d 1, 882 P.2d 157 (1994) for 

the proposition that it was harmless error to exclude cost of repair 

information in a road design case where all that was needed was a sign to 

warn of the hazard. 

The ruling that bicycles are part of ordinary travel for Keller purposes, 

is consistent with prior decisions of this court. In Camicia v. HowardS. 
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Wright Construction Co., 179 Wash.2d 684,317 P.3d 987 (2014), a bicyclist 

was using a bicycle trail along the 1-90 corridor, owned by the City of Mercer 

Island, when she crashed into a wooden post, suffering injury. The 

recreational immunity claim 1 turned on whether there were facts supporting 

a theory that the trail was used for transportation rather than recreation. As 

the title history of the land made clear, the trail was a part of a transportation 

corridor, and the bicycle was therefore being used for transportation, not 

recreation. The court overturned the summary judgment dismissal which was 

based on recreational immunity. At page 699, the Camicia court affirmed 

that bicycles are part of"ordinary travel" for Keller analysis: 

Extending the reach ofRCW 4.24.210 to land that is open to 
the public for purposes other than recreation simply because 
some recreational use occurs not only undermines the statute's 
plain language and the legislature's intent but would also 
unjustly relieve the government of its common-law duty to 
maintain roadways in a condition reasonably safe for ordinary 
travel. See Keller v. City ofSpokane, 146 Wash.2d 237, 249, 
44 P.3d 845 (2002). [emphasis added] 

The court should therefore decline discretionary review. 

2. Whether James Couch is a qualified expert 

Petitioner opens its motion with complaints that Plaintiffs expert is 

not qualified to express opinions under ER 702. 

1 The Recreational Immunity Statute does not apply here. Plaintiff! Appellant 
Pamela O'Neill was using her bicycle to get to and from work at the time of 
the injury. Recreational immunity under RCW 4.24.210 was not part of the 
summary judgment motion by the City of Port Orchard. It was neither raised 
nor briefed below. 
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Initially, this issue does not fall under one of RAP 13.4(b)'s 

Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review, and therefore the Petition 

should be summarily denied. 

Further, Mr. James Couch, plaintiffs expert here, was the same 

person recently cited as an expert in Jewels v. City of Bellingham, 183 Wn.2d 

388, 353 P.3d 204 (June, 2015). There was full discussion of the 

qualifications of James Couch in the dissent of Justice Gordon McCloud, 

joined by Justices Gonzales, Wiggins, and Stephens, at page 406, which was 

not addressed nor contradicted by the majority. 

Couch states that "[ s ]peed bumps are usually marked by 
warnings on the roadway such as yellow paint and/or through 
signage to give people notice." CP at 108. The basis for that 
observation is Couch's 30 years "in bicycle riding and 
coaching," CP at 1 07-experience sufficient to qualify him as 
an expert in the kinds of speed bumps that bicyclists typically 
encounter. See ER 702 (witness may be "qualified as an 
expert by ... experience"). Couch also opined that "it was 
reasonable for Mr. Jewels to believe that [the site of the 
accident] was a typical speed bump, particularly when the 
first speed bump he came to in the park fit that common 
pattern." CP at 1 09. This was not, as the City asserts, 
"speculat[ion]" about Jewels' decision to ride over the water 
diverter. City of Bellingham's Suppl. Br. at 20. Rather, it was 
an opinion about what bicyclists generally do and expect. As 
such, it was admissible under ER 702. 

There is no reason to accept review here, as to the qualifications of Mr. 

Couch. 

3. The Citv's challenge on proximate cause. 

The City asks acceptance of review of an issue of proximate cause on 

summary judgment. Again, this issue does not fall under one of RAP 
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13.4(b)'s limited Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review, and 

therefore the Petition should be denied. 

Further, proximate cause was not challenged in the City's Summary 

Judgment Motion at the trial court level. CP 13-14, CP 16. The City 

presented only two questions in its summary judgment motion: Breach of the 

City's duty of care, and claims of assumption of risk. CP 16. Proximate

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